MOMENTUM

Country and Global Leadership





Photo: Save the Children Partner

THE POWER OF YOUTH VOICES

How Youth Are Holding Their Health Systems Accountable for Family Planning and Reproductive Health

January 2021





TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abbreviations	3
Acknowledgments	4
Executive Summary	5
Section 1: Introduction	6
Section 2: Methodology	6
2.1 Literature Review	7
2.2 In-Depth Interviews	8
2.3 Virtual Youth Consultation	8
2.4 Limitations	8
Section 3: Characteristics of Youth Social Accountability Initiatives	9
3.1 Geographic Distribution and Scale of Initiatives	9
3.2 How Youth Are Engaged in Social Accountability	10
3.3 Profiles of Youth Involved	11
Section 4: Outcomes of Youth Social Accountability	12
4.1 Family Planning/Reproductive Health Outcomes	12
4.2 Positive Youth Development Outcomes	13
4.3 Gaps in Outcome Measurements	14
Section 5: Challenges in Youth Social Accountability	15
5.1 Challenges for Youth Participation	15
5.2 Challenges for Health System Responsiveness	18
5.3 Challenges for Sustainable Change	19
Section 6: Promising Practices in Youth Social Accountability	20
6.1 Capacity Building and Support for Youth	20
6.2 Capacity Building for Health System Actors	20
6.3 Relationship Building Between Youth and Health System Actors	20
6.4 Changes in Hierarchies and Norms	21
6.5 Digital Connectedness	21
6.6 Multi-Level Accountability	21
Section 7: Recommendations	22
References	24
Annex 1: Transforming Lives Case Study	27
Annex 2: Partnership Defined Quality for Youth Case Study	29
Annex 3: Youth Engage Case Study	31
Annex 4: Youth Social Accountability Initiatives	32
Anney 5: Literature Reviewed	37

ABBREVIATIONS

AGYW adolescent girls and young women

FP family planning

FP/RH family planning/reproductive health

GBV gender-based violence

INGO international nongovernmental organization

NGO nongovernmental organization

PDQ-Y Partnership Defined Quality for Youth

PYD positive youth development

RH reproductive health

SAFAIDS Southern Africa HIV & AIDS Information Dissemination Service

SDGs Sustainable Development Goals

USAID United States Agency for International Development

YFS youth-friendly services

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

MOMENTUM Country and Global Leadership is part of a suite of innovative awards funded by the U.S. Agency for International Development (USAID) to holistically improve voluntary family planning and maternal and child health in partner countries around the world. The project focuses on technical and capacity development assistance to ministries of health and other country partners to improve outcomes.

This report is made possible by the generous support of the American people through USAID under the terms of the Cooperative Agreement #7200AA20CA00002, led by Jhpiego and partners. The contents are the responsibility of MOMENTUM Country and Global Leadership and do not necessarily reflect the views of USAID or the United States Government.

This landscape analysis was conducted by Save the Children as part of MOMENTUM Country and Global Leadership. MOMENTUM Country and Global Leadership recognizes the leadership of Callie Simon, adolescent and youth health advisor, and the editorial and technical development support of The Torchlight Collective consultant team of Grace Wilentz, Katherine (Kat) Watson, and Lindsay Menard-Freeman.

Thematic and context-specific expertise was provided by Vicky Boydell, Global Health Centre at the Geneva Graduate Institute; Jenny Bowie, senior youth engagement manager at Restless Development; Sue Cant, social accountability advisor at World Vision; Ignatius T. Chipendo, programs manager, and Clara Chinorouma, program officer at Youth Engage; Percy Ngwerume, senior development officer, Sithembile Chiware, social accountability specialist, and Chido Kelly Saruh Rusike, program assistant at the Southern Africa HIV & AIDS Information Dissemination Service (SAfAIDS); Lenette Golding, social and behavior change advisor at Save the Children; Meggie Mwoka, policy and research officer at the African Population and Health Research Center; Caroline Pade-Khene, professor at Rhodes University; Ingrid Siebörger, professor at De Monfort University; Ganesh Pandey, technical manager health and nutrition at Save the Children Nepal; Eric Sarriot, senior health systems strengthening advisor at Save the Children and former co-chair of the CORE Systems for Health Working Group; Sana Contractor at Copasah; and a colleague from the Graduate Institute of International Development.

Gratitude is extended to the youth who participated in the October 29, 2020, youth consultation for their time and expertise, which ensured that the recommendations of this landscape analysis align with their real-life experiences: Bheki Shabangu, Chido Kelly Saruh Rusike (Zimbabwe), Linly Dumuka (Malawi), Elezer Berhanu (Ethiopia), Florence Lungu (Zambia), Lulit Mengesha (Ethiopia), Peter Ngure (Kenya), Teboho Mohloai, Mervis Kamanga (Malawi), Precious Moir, Skhulile Hlatjwako (Eswatini), Ziyanda Phungwayo (Eswatini), Mamofuta Kale, and Happy Mtambo (Malawi).

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Youth-led social accountability for health has the potential to advance positive youth development (PYD), improve the quality of family planning/reproductive health (FP/RH) care for youth, and strengthen the responsiveness of the health system to the needs and rights of youth. While youth have been increasingly engaged in social accountability for health, there has been relatively limited documentation and analysis of youth-led social accountability efforts. Little is known about the prevalence and scope of youth-led social accountability efforts, key challenges and promising practices in youth-led social accountability, and the pathways for increasing youth-led social accountability. To address these knowledge gaps and generate recommendations on the way forward, MOMENTUM Country and Global Leadership conducted this landscape analysis. The landscape analysis aims to answer the following questions:

- 1. How have youth been engaged in social accountability for FP/RH at facility, subnational, and national levels?
- 2. What outcomes have been achieved through youth-led and youth-inclusive social accountability for FP/RH?
- 3. What are the barriers and facilitators to youth participation and leadership in social accountability?
- **4.** What are the barriers and facilitators of health systems' responsiveness to youth-led and youth-inclusive social accountability?
- 5. What lessons can be learned from broader social accountability initiatives for FP/RH?

To answer these questions, we conducted a desk review of peer-reviewed and grey literature as well as a series of in-depth interviews with youth, academics, and representatives of implementing organizations. Additionally, we held a virtual consultation with youth to corroborate the findings and enhance the recommendations.

Through this methodology, we identified 25 social accountability initiatives for FP/RH that were either youth-led or youth-inclusive (collectively referred to throughout this report as "youth social accountability"). We found very limited documentation of these social accountability initiatives making it difficult to discern the specific ways in which youth were involved, the extent to which it is meaningful, and the outcomes achieved.

The youth social accountability initiatives identified sought to change FP/RH outcomes in three categories:

1) improvements in the attitudes of providers toward youth; 2) improvement in the quality and equity of health services; and 3) changes in accountability relationships between youth and the health system. In addition, the youth and adult social accountability experts interviewed for this landscape agreed that youth social accountability also contributes to PYD and youth empowerment outcomes. However, there was no measurement of these outcomes in the social accountability initiatives identified.

We identified challenges to youth social accountability related to youth participation, health system responsiveness, and an over-emphasis on short-term project-based accountability compared with sustainable youth-led movement building. Promising practices for youth social accountability emerging from the landscape include capacity building for youth and adults, strengthening relationships between youth and health system actors, leveraging digital connectedness, and targeting accountability efforts at multiple levels of the health system.

Through this landscape analysis, we find that youth social accountability implementation is racing ahead of documentation, and that there are opportunities to improve youth social accountability practice in order to increase youth leadership and improve the responsiveness of health systems to the needs and rights of youth. Based on this we propose four recommendations to advance youth social accountability: 1) increase monitoring, evaluation, and learning of youth social accountability initiatives; 2) prioritize support for youth-led social accountability, rather than just youth-inclusive; 3) apply multi-level social accountability approaches; and 4) shift away from tools and toward relationship building as the focus of social accountability.

SECTION 1: INTRODUCTION

Youth social accountability for family planning/reproductive health (FP/RH)—whereby youth hold public officials and service providers to account for the provision of quality, equitable, and accessible FP/RH care—can contribute to youth-responsive health systems, improve quality FP/RH care and programming for youth, and foster positive youth development (PYD) and leadership. It is one of the ways in which youth can be meaningfully engaged in efforts that seek to advance their health and human rights.

Despite the potential of youth social accountability and increasing interest in both social accountability and meaningful youth engagement in FP/RH, there is not a clear understanding of what youth social accountability initiatives are being implemented, where they are, and what their impact and challenges have been. Understanding the state of youth social accountability is important to inform the way forward for youth, organizations, donors, and researchers interested in advancing the practice of youth social accountability. In order to fill this gap, MOMENTUM Country and Global Leadership conducted a landscape analysis to answer five questions:

- 1. How have youth been engaged in social accountability for FP/RH at facility, subnational, and national levels?
- 2. What outcomes have been achieved through youth-led and youth-inclusive social accountability for FP/RH?
- 3. What are the barriers and facilitators to youth participation and leadership in social accountability?
- **4.** What are the barriers and facilitators of health systems' responsiveness to youth-led and youth-inclusive social accountability?
- 5. What lessons can be learned from broader social accountability initiatives for FP/RH?

The findings of the landscape analysis are contained in this report, which is divided into the following sections:

1) Introduction, 2) Methodology, 3) Characteristics of youth social accountability initiatives, 4) FP/RH and PYD outcomes of youth social accountability, 5) Challenges in youth social accountability, 6) Promising practices, and 7) Recommendations. In the annexes of this report, there are three case studies of youth social accountability for FP/RH and a table summarizing the 25 youth social accountability initiatives that we identified.

SECTION 2: METHODOLOGY

Social accountability is defined in a number of ways based on, for example, the actors between whom accountability relationships are established (e.g., duty-bearers and rights-holders), the instruments utilized (e.g., community engagement with scorecards), and the level at which initiatives are targeted (e.g., facility, national). Social accountability requires a socio-institutional relationship. In other words, it demands that a non-state actor interface with a representative of the state or other public actor; transforming that relationship is a core function of social accountability.

For the purposes of this landscape analysis, we used the following definition of social accountability: "Social accountability involves ongoing, collective action by civil society groups, which includes NGOs [nongovernmental organizations], to hold public officials and service providers to account for the provision of public goods" (Joshi and Gurza Lavalle, no date). Beyond mere provision, social accountability for health includes efforts to improve the quality, equity, and access of FP/RH care. A **youth-led** social accountability initiative is understood to adhere to this same definition, with the addition that the intervention is devised and implemented by youth. A **youth-inclusive** social accountability initiative differs in that youth are not leading but, rather, participating in a meaningful way. The term **youth social accountability** is used herein to refer to both youth-led and youth-inclusive social accountability. For the purposes of this landscape analysis, youth refers to those aged 15 to 24.

There were two primary data collection methods for this landscape analysis, a literature review and key informant interviews. Following the development of preliminary findings and a draft set of recommendations, we held a virtual consultation to seek youth input. Each of these methods is explained in more detail below along with limitations.

2.1 LITERATURE REVIEW

The literature review included both peer-reviewed and grey literature. We conducted online searches on Google, Google Scholar, PubMed, and the websites of selected organizations, United Nations agencies, and research institutions working in the areas of FP/RH and youth development. Box 1 sets out the search terms used. The literature search was conducted primarily in English with additional primary terms searched in Spanish, French, and Portuguese. In addition to the online searches, we used the bibliographies of recent reviews of social accountability by USAID's Maternal and Child Survival Program (MCSP 2017, 2019) and CORE Group (2014) to identify relevant resources.

Box 1: Literature review search terms

Youth-led social accountability; adolescents/youth/young people/10 - 24 + social accountability; social accountability + family planning; social accountability + reproductive health; monitoring and evaluation + social accountability; social accountability tools; social accountability processes

Further resources were sought through the dissemination of a brief Google Form aimed at identifying documentation not unearthed through the above-mentioned search strategy. The authors sent the survey to known global, regional, and national experts on social accountability as well as the Youth Health and Rights Coalition, ISRRC, and FP2020 listservs in August 2020. The Google Form asked respondents to provide information on any youth-led social accountability initiatives they have been involved with. By September 15, 2020, eight responses to the survey were received. Additional documents were also identified by interviewees and later added to the review. A total of 59 publications were identified and assessed against the following inclusion criteria:

- addresses youth social accountability for FP and/or RH; and/or
- addresses youth social accountability for health broadly; and/or
- addresses (adult-led) social accountability for FP and/or RH

<OR>

- addresses social accountability theory and practice broadly; and
- was recommended by an interviewee

✓ AND ✓

• published on or after January 1, 20101

Fifty-four publications met these inclusion criteria and were reviewed; 14 were peer-reviewed publications and 40 were categorized as grey literature. The grey literature was subdivided into guidelines and standards (9), evaluation reports (1), project reports (8), unpublished literature review (1), research reports (8), webinars (2), working papers (1), and other (10). An analysis sheet was developed around the questions for this landscape analysis to review the 54 publications in a standardized manner. It included domains related to youth participation and leadership, tools and processes, outcomes, and barriers/facilitators. Relevant information and quotations from the literature were drawn into the sheet and analyzed thematically to formulate the contents of this report.

¹ One exception to this criterion was made for documents relating to Save the Children's Partnership Defined Quality for Youth initiative in Nepal; the initiative is ongoing; available reports were written before 2010.

2.2 IN-DEPTH INTERVIEWS

Following the literature review, we developed an in-depth interview guide that focused on the primary landscape questions and addressed gaps emerging from the literature. The guide contained questions on youth-led or youth-inclusive social accountability for FP/RH specifically, (adult-led) social accountability for FP/RH generally, and on what is needed to better support youth participation and leadership in social accountability efforts. We conducted a total of eight interviews with 11 individuals. Interviewees included practitioners and academics from global, regional, and national organizations, including youth-led and youth-serving organizations. The authors assigned interviewees numerical codes to ensure their anonymity. The authors analyzed the interview data according to the landscape questions, extracted relevant evidence, and identified and discussed key themes.

2.3 VIRTUAL YOUTH CONSULTATION

To validate the findings of the literature review and in-depth interviews, MOMENTUM Country and Global Leadership held a virtual consultation with 14youth on October 29, 2020. Following a presentation of preliminary findings and recommendations, three to five youth participants formed discussion groups with one facilitator and one note-taker. Facilitators asked the groups to respond to the following two questions:

- Do the findings resonate with your own experience? Why or why not? Is anything missing?
- Are there any key recommendations for advancing youth social accountability that have been missed? Are there recommendations you don't agree with? Recommendations that need more detail?

The authors used the discussion to refine and enhance the recommendations of this landscape analysis.

2.4 LIMITATIONS

This landscape analysis was exploratory. There was not a firm sense before it began of the amount of literature and experience available on youth social accountability for FP/RH. While there is a growing body of literature, this landscape analysis found significant gaps, including a dearth of peer-reviewed literature, few comprehensive evaluation reports, and a lack of documentation of the processes through which youth social accountability initiatives operate. In terms of experience and expertise, however, there is no shortage across the youth and FP/RH sectors globally. Interviews with experts helped to fill some of the gaps in the available literature. Interviewees noted that documentation and evaluation of youth social accountability has not kept up with practice, and as such there are likely many more youth social accountability initiatives that are not captured in this landscape analysis because they are not documented.

A further limitation is the blurring of lines between social accountability and several other areas of FP/RH programming, including advocacy, quality improvement initiatives, and meaningful youth engagement. This landscape analysis examines initiatives that self-identify as social accountability. There are likely to be more initiatives that would have characteristics of social accountability but were not identified using the search terms and parameters set for this landscape analysis.

Finally, this landscape analysis focused on youth social accountability for FP/RH; we did not review the full body of social accountability literature related to broader health, development, or political science. To provide context, however, on the advice of interviewees, the authors reviewed a small number of recent and/or widely-cited (mostly peer reviewed) studies.

SECTION 3: CHARACTERISTICS OF YOUTH SOCIAL ACCOUNTABILITY INITIATIVES

3.1 GEOGRAPHIC DISTRIBUTION AND SCALE OF INITIATIVES

The landscape analysis identified 25 social accountability initiatives across 33 countries in five regions (see Figure 1 and Annex 4). Of the 25 initiatives, two were multi-regional, three were regional in Africa, and the remaining 20 took place in one country. Fifteen of the initiatives sought to engage on the subnational level, while 11 targeted the national level and five targeted the facility level; seven initiatives combined activities at multiple levels of the health system (mostly subnational and national), one of which engaged both regional and national levels.



FIGURE 1: REGIONAL OVERVIEW OF YOUTH SOCIAL ACCOUNTABILITY INITIATIVES

Documentation of the scale of youth social accountability initiatives, such as the number of youth participating in the initiatives and geographic coverage is incomplete. Four of the 25 initiatives provided information on the number of youth participating in the initiatives, which ranged from 10,000 youth in a movement for legal reform in Peru to 10 youth reporters in a Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) accountability initiative in Tanzania. Information on geographic coverage is provided for at least nine of the 25 initiatives, most of which are operating at a subnational level in just one or two districts or regions of a country. Of the five initiatives working at the facility level, two provided information on the number of health facilities engaged in the social accountability effort; in Nepal, 67 health facilities engaged in the social accountability effort and in Panama three facilities participated (see Annex 3 Partnership Defined Quality for Youth Case Study and IPPF 2016).

In relation to sustainability, only the Partnership Defined Quality for Youth (PDQ-Y) initiative in Nepal provided detailed information. In Nepal, Save the Children trained several district health officials to carry forward PDQ-Y without further funding or involvement from Save the Children. However, given that the responsibility sat with individuals at the subnational level and was not institutionalized within the Ministry of Health, turnover of staff members and health management and operation committee members meant that the approach was not carried forward even in districts where it had already been used for some time (Interviewee 8).

Of the 25 initiatives, at least 10 were funded and led by international nongovernmental organizations (INGOs), while another 10 were led by national NGOs. For the remaining five, the lead organization is either unclear in the documentation, or they are led by a regional organization or global network of national organizations.

3.2 HOW YOUTH ARE ENGAGED IN SOCIAL ACCOUNTABILITY

There is scant description of exactly how youth were engaged in the 25 initiatives. The lack of documentation makes it challenging to understand the mechanics of youth engagement and to identify promising practices in various settings and for distinct communities.

Based on the limited descriptions, we identified five initiatives that appeared to be youth-led, including two implemented by the INGO Restless Development. The remaining 20 appear to be youth-inclusive. We found only one initiative that described how youth were engaged in the initial design stages of the social accountability initiative. The perspectives of several youth consultation participants reinforced the finding that youth are typically absent from the design and ultimate decision-making spaces within initiatives led by or jointly led by adults.

We found a wide range of social accountability methods used by youth for FP/RH. These include:

- Youth assess the friendliness of health services using pre-defined criteria/scorecards (sometimes called social audits).
- Youth report barriers to service access and poor quality of service provision using digital tools, such as apps and online platforms.
- Youth gather data on the extent to which governments are upholding national, regional, and international
 commitments to youth health and rights, and meet with government representatives to present findings and
 request accountability.
- Youth participate in facilitated dialogue processes whereby youth and service providers/health officials collectively define quality FP/RH care and create joint action plans to improve the quality (e.g., PDQ-Y).
- Youth participate and/or convene public hearings that bring together youth, community members, and health officials to jointly discuss issues of concern to youth.
- Youth work with legal institutions to pursue strategic litigation in the form of a constitutional challenge to existing law.
- Youth conduct public inquiries and data collection on rights violations.
- Youth participate in ministry of health budget allocation processes to ensure service quality improvement for youth and other youth health programs receive budget allocations, and then follow-up the budget process by tracking public expenditure.
- Youth participate in health facility management/co-management committees designed to ensure community oversight and input into health facility operations.

As part of many of these social accountability processes, youth receive support to use a variety of tools aimed at identifying gaps in the respect, protection, and fulfilment of their human rights. At the facility level, for example, health care standards, patient charters, nurse codes of ethics, and principles for youth-friendly service delivery have been used to understand the guidelines by which service providers are bound. At subnational and national levels, regional and international human rights conventions as well as national law serve to clarify governments' legal obligations to provide FP/RH care to youth. To translate this understanding of rights and entitlements into measures of duty-bearers' compliance, youth are using various tools, including digital applications to input data on the youth friendliness of providers and scorecards to measure compliance with quality health care standards. The outputs of these tools provide evidence that is then used to raise awareness among the general population of youth and to engage in dialogue with duty-bearers.

3.3 PROFILES OF YOUTH INVOLVED

With limited documentation, it is difficult to say anything conclusive about which youth were involved in the social accountability efforts, and how and if particularly marginalized youth were engaged. Information from the 25 youth social accountability initiatives indicates that most initiatives originate in youth-led or youth-serving organizations, including INGOs, based in urban contexts. As such, there are challenges in ensuring the participation of marginalized youth, particularly from rural settings, from the outset of social accountability initiatives (Interviewee 8, 3). The groups of youth engaged in the 25 initiatives included people living with HIV, young women, married young men, rural youth, and urban and peri-urban youth.



Photo: Yagazie Emezi / Save the Children

SECTION 4: OUTCOMES OF YOUTH SOCIAL ACCOUNTABILITY

Social accountability practice is racing ahead of documentation, evaluation, and research (Interviewees 1,4; Boydell and Keesbury 2014). This is, at least in part, due to the complex nature of social accountability, which makes it difficult to evaluate using traditional methods (Interviewee 4; Steyn et al 2020). We found only one youth social accountability initiative that was rigorously evaluated. The other initiatives were largely documented in the form of project reports, short case studies, and anecdotes. Where data was included, it typically focused on the use of a particular commodity or health service or the number of youth reached. While the documentation doesn't include significant information on the outcomes that were achieved, we found that the youth social accountability initiatives aimed to achieve outcomes in two key areas: FP/RH and PYD. Each of these is explored below, followed by an analysis of gaps in measurement.

"Current social accountability practice has been racing ahead of clear evidence of impact. The paucity of studies of impact (although increasing rapidly), the fragmentation of the data points, the lack of comparative evidence, the need for studies using mixed methods all have contributed to a situation where there is a strong normative belief in citizen-led accountability without a clear understanding of the conditions under which it can have impact"

(Joshi 2013 quoted in Boydell and Keesbury 2014).

4.1 FAMILY PLANNING/REPRODUCTIVE HEALTH OUTCOMES

Looking across the youth social accountability initiatives identified, the FP/RH outcomes they sought to achieve fall into three broad categories: 1) improvements in the attitudes of providers toward adolescents and youth; 2) concrete actions to improve the quality and equity of service provision; and 3) changes in accountability relationships between youth and service providers. Specific outcomes reported in these three categories are detailed in Table 1.

TABLE 1: INTENDED OUTCOMES OF YOUTH SOCIAL ACCOUNTABILITY

Category	Outcomes
Changes in attitudes of providers toward adolescents and youth	More respectful attitudes of service providers toward youth and adolescents
Actions to improve the quality and equity of service provision for adolescents and youth	 Designation of youth-friendly clinics and areas Lower cost of services for youth Train staff on delivering youth-friendly services Modification of communications materials to be more adolescent-friendly and to increase the visibility of adolescent-friendly activities Timely restocking of essential commodities Improvements in quality standards and the establishment of technical and programmatic protocols
Changes in accountability relationships between youth and service providers	 Strengthened communication channels between providers and youth Mechanisms for youth input into services (e.g., question boxes to welcome questions and feedback from clients) Improvements in trust, confidentiality, privacy, and mutual respect

It is worth noting that youth may be limited in their "asks" and the outcomes they seek through social accountability. Several youth participants in the virtual youth consultation suggested that this is due to a lack of human rights education and low levels of awareness among youth of their rights to health and quality health services, and the conditions necessary for their realization. As a result, youth tend to ask for tangible, visible changes such as the establishment of youth-friendly corners and clinics, rather than other, more systemic changes that may affect long-term sustainable change in service quality and equity.

4.2 POSITIVE YOUTH DEVELOPMENT OUTCOMES

While changes to improve health services are the most commonly observed outcomes of youth social accountability initiatives, several interviewees noted shifts in understanding among youth of the power of their own voices and leadership as well as greater weight placed on youth perspectives by communities.

"When it works, it massively shifts how young people are viewed in a community. There's a catalytic effect and brings together others who may be inspired to join the movement. [Social accountability] increases young people's authority. Young people are seen as experts and are able to pick up knowledge quickly and demonstrate their own capabilities. Young people have capacity and knowledge, and just need the tools" (Interviewee 6).

Across all initiatives reviewed, there was implicit focus on not only creating positive shifts in health outcomes but also on creating space for youth voices and leadership. As noted by several interviewees, an emphasis on building youth leadership is an investment that has the potential to outlive health facility level improvements and help foster cultures of accountability and movement building (Interviewee 1). Another interviewee observed that "leadership training needs to go hand in hand with a platform to apply that learning, to learn by doing. We've seen young women stand for council after social accountability initiatives because they have that increased confidence and efficacy and agency" (Interviewee 4). While some of the documentation and, in particular, interviewees highlight the PYD outcomes achieved through social accountability initiatives, the evidence available is anecdotal and we did not identify any empirical measures of PYD or empowerment used in the evaluation of youth social accountability initiatives.



Photo: Mauricio Botero / Save the Children

4.3 GAPS IN OUTCOME MEASUREMENTS

Measuring social accountability can be a challenging endeavor. This is a result of the myriad of contextual factors and relationships at both micro and macro levels that affect outcomes, and the fact that measuring outcomes of social accountability must take account of its long-term nature; in other words, it requires patience.

"Social accountability is a long game. Because there's money on the table, people are playing it as a short game. As an emphasis, we have to show that it 'works.' The essence of social accountability is not to 'work'—we have an indicator that's bad, and we're going to have it improved by year 2 or 3 or whatever year of the project. [That's a] very intervention design model. Social accountability can help, but it is not meant to do that. It's meant to work on an intermediary result—do you care about your clients [and] about what signals they are sending you?" (Interviewee 5)

In light of the above-mentioned challenges, measurement frameworks need to be grounded firmly in context-specific theories of change, and take into account the efforts of other actors using similar or complementary strategies to achieve change in the same context. Indicators should measure the intended short-, medium-, and long-term impacts at various levels. While most existing studies of impact "are looking for the immediate outcomes such as visible improvements in services," there is a need to "systematically identify all the potential impacts one might be interested in to trace the extent they might have been achieved in specific cases" (Joshi 2014). These indicators may relate to changes in social actors, such as changes in rights awareness among youth or changes in norms related to youth participation; changes in state responses, such as the responsiveness of health systems to demands made by youth; and the opening up of spaces for collaborative dialogue between youth and the state (Joshi 2014).

Interviewees expressed a desire to move toward indicators of success that measure solidarity, collectivism, and the ability of citizens to coalesce around and act on commonly observed or experienced rights violations (Interviewee 3). This focus necessitates a shift away from measuring immediate change in health-seeking behavior as the only indicator of success and toward measuring the strength of socio-institutional relationships and PYD and empowerment among youth. As described by one interviewee, change should be measured in part by the way that "people [youth] see themselves as actors and build a sense [of] buy-in, sense of responsibility" (Interviewee 5). On the side of the state, interviewees suggested that health systems' responsiveness be measured by the extent to which state actors take youth demands into consideration and make decisions commensurate with their rights.

"Social accountability is [when] a duty-bearer, who has a responsibility, is confronted with a choice every day about funding, [and] at some point that person thinks 'people won't be happy or that won't be fair.' That moment is what makes the system work" (Interviewee 5).

SECTION 5: CHALLENGES IN YOUTH SOCIAL ACCOUNTABILITY

The landscape analysis identified several challenges to youth social accountability. Some of these are challenging for all social accountability efforts, while others are specific to youth. These challenges are categorized under 1) youth participation, 2) health system responsiveness, and 3) sustainability, each of which is explored in more detail below.

5.1 CHALLENGES FOR YOUTH PARTICIPATION

We found that the challenges youth encounter in their efforts to participate in social accountability processes fall into three main areas: 1) power, hierarchy, and social norms; 2) inclusion of diverse youth; and 3) practicalities.

POWER, HIERARCHIES, AND SOCIAL NORMS

In many contexts, social norms—unwritten rules of behavior shared by member of a given group or society—suggest that youth must be subordinate and deferential to their elders. These norms can stifle the willingness and ability of youth to participate in initiatives that require youth to speak up and share their perspectives with people who are older and in positions of leadership.

"A young person usually is at the bottom of the decision-making chain, so we need to give that capacity building to realize that there is a need to deliberately target the traditional norms.... A part of the barriers is the politics that surrounds older people being service providers because it becomes volatile when you speak to gaps. Young people have a major fear to raise issues....You can't really stand up and say it in your community.... When young people are going to advocate, they need to know how they are going to be protected when they speak out about the realities that are on the ground" (Interviewee 9).

Given that it is in the very nature of social accountability to question existing power structures, upend dominant norms, and challenge embedded hierarchies between and within groups—including between youth and adults, citizens and the state, and different groups of youth—it is not surprising that youth engagement can encounter opposition from adults, including health care providers and other health system actors. This opposition may be even more pronounced in relation to FP/RH, given its linkages to contested issues such as gender identity, sexuality, and religion (Boydell 2019), and the stigma associated with youth sexuality. Adults may be unaccustomed to youth voices being positioned as authoritative and, as a result, are unwilling to listen to their demands for change. This is particularly true in the context of the medical profession, which may have the assumption that it is not the place of youth—or any lay person—to provide oversight of health services and systems (Lodenstein 2016).

"There's resistance to change, there's resistance to the idea of 'big brother' watching me, from both hospitals and the youth. Who knows my info? Who knows about me? Who is watching to see how much work I am doing? Who is judging me based on my judgment of others.... There is a lot of stigma around the idea of social accountability monitoring because it is that sense of being watched, and that makes even ethical, truthful people nervous, the idea that someone is just watching you" (Interviewee 11).

Power dynamics between youth and adults and between INGOs and youth-led organizations also impact the design of youth social accountability initiatives. Some youth described their participation in social accountability being a "means to an end" for adult-led organizations and donors. Youth consultation participants noted that they were often brought in once the terms and processes for social accountability have been decided by adults, and they described feeling as though they were waiting for an invitation to speak up. Furthermore, interviewees highlighted that the outcomes that youth are interested in are often

different from adults' priorities. They noted that youth are generally interested in issues of quality, rights, and control over one's own decisions, and donors and governments are often interested in the number of services provided (Interviewee 3). As one virtual youth consultation participant put it, "the challenges young people have are not the same as the difficulties older people face. For reproductive health issues [young people face difficulty in access to services], older people do not face the same issues."

INCLUSION OF DIVERSE YOUTH

Although age-related discrimination may be unique to youth, the exclusivity of accountability spaces is not. Space for civil society representation within accountability processes may be limited to one or two people, making it nearly impossible to include the voices of all affected communities (Health Policy Project 2015). This "elite-capture" is a well-documented challenge for social accountability initiatives in general (Joshi 2014). Thus, the potential for already-excluded groups, including youth, to be further excluded in the context of social accountability necessitates "critical thinking about power and privilege that underline community voice" (Boydell et al 2019).

One of the primary challenges highlighted by interviewees was the participation of diverse and, particularly, marginalized youth in social accountability for FP/RH. While all youth experience challenges to social accountability participation due to power, hierarchy, and norms, youth who experience systematic exclusion and discrimination based on class, caste, ethnicity, religion, educational level, economic status, sexuality, and gender identity face additional barriers. One interviewee pointed out that youth from indigenous communities in his country have a deep mistrust of state authorities, which prevents them from engaging in social accountability (Interviewee 8).

"It's also about the diversity of the voices that are a part of the conversation, ensuring all classes—grassroots, lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer, and different voices—because even in developing such frameworks, the voices of those who are more or less disadvantaged in getting to 'the table' are lacking. It can become an elitist youth-led scenario. So, we are thinking through how to balance it" (Interviewee 2).

PRACTICAL PARTICIPATION BARRIERS

We identified four challenges relating to the practicalities of youth participation and leadership in social accountability processes.

1. MOBILIZING AND ORGANIZING: Organizing groups of youth is central to any youth social accountability process. In some contexts, particularly where the use of coordinating mechanisms and digital applications such as WhatsApp and Facebook Messenger are not available to youth, mobilization is a challenge. Adding youth's lack of control over financial and other resources to this means that youth often rely on adults and their funding to be invited and funded to participate in social accountability.

"Adults have more convening power because they have bigger budgets. In Kenya, youth are scattered everywhere.... A key learning is the coordination aspect of how to bring people together. Another aspect is having joint objectives as young people because we work across different topics—SRHR [sexual and reproductive health and rights], employment, climate. But, you find that there are cross-cutting issues in their advocacy where they can rely on the power of their networks. Coordination is dependent on resources, though" (Interviewee 2).

2. LIMITED ACCESS TO DATA AND THE INTERNET: Low penetration of mobile phone usage, lack of access to data, and clinics without free Wi-Fi were all noted as challenges to youth participation in digital social accountability initiatives. While creative solutions are being tested, such as training youth champions in health facilities to provide support and access for other youth to use digital social accountability tools, there is a need to carefully consider how the digital divide may be further widened through the use of such technology in social accountability. Further, at least one interviewee noted the concern among youth that their information would be shared if it was recorded using digital tools (Interviewee 7).

"There were big issues with access to data. Mobile data in sub-Saharan Africa is ridiculously expensive and that's a major barrier for a number of the youth and for the health care facility staff, not just the youth who are struggling" (Interviewee 11).

3. TURNOVER AMONG YOUTH PARTICIPANTS: The perennial challenge of high rates of turnover among youth participants and leaders is one that has been documented extensively in FP/RH programs generally (IPPF 2016). In Nepal, for example, after orienting and supporting various adolescents in the PDQ-Y process, participation waned as work and school examinations took priority (Interviewee 8).

"We managed to have reps from adolescent groups on the quality improvement team, but the problem we encountered was continued participation. They are in school or on their own way with their business. We noticed throughout the years that the continued meaningful participation was a challenge" (Interviewee 8).

4. LANGUAGE: The language surrounding accountability causes confusion and, in some contexts, prevents youth from participating. One interviewee pointed out that "accountability" is not a word that is widely understood; thus, it needs to be explained to youth and to communities before it is used. Further, there are negative connotations attached to the word "accountability," particularly in places where government oversight is a reality in all areas of life. In one African country, the use of the word is avoided altogether and youth are called "youth data reporters," even though their role is related to accountability (Interviewee 10).

"Reframing accountability away from something that sounds really technical and alienating. Breaking it down and framing it around supporting young people to understand that what they're already doing is already accountability" (Interviewee 6).

5.2 CHALLENGES FOR HEALTH SYSTEM RESPONSIVENESS

This section explores challenges the health systems may have in responding to the demands of youth social accountability processes. Through the landscape, we identified challenges related to 1) the multiple levels and actors in health systems and 2) the health system capacity to engage with youth.

MULTIPLE LEVELS AND ACTORS IN A HEALTH SYSTEM

Health systems are complex and it can be difficult to know where to apply pressure to affect change. Social accountability processes must take account of the "webs of accountability relationships" and the different actors operating at varying levels of the health system who hold power over decisions that affect FP/RH for youth, including public providers, health ministries, finance ministries, parliamentary health committees, budget committees, insurance agencies and hospital boards (Boydell et al 2019). Added to this complexity is the existence of private FP/RH providers, which may remain outside of accountability mechanisms altogether and, in some contexts, are more acceptable and accessible to youth who can afford to pay (Interviewee 3; Boydell et al 2019).

The layered, decentralized nature of many health systems is such that pressure applied at one level of the system may not translate into the desired change. Evidence suggests that there is a tendency in social accountability initiatives to focus at one level of the system or another, leading to a "squeezing the balloon" effect, whereby the barriers to FP/RH service provision identified by communities are deflected further upstream. For example, the facility level youth social accountability initiative in Nepal found that demands for longer operating hours and renovation of clinics could not be addressed given the requirement of approval from higher-up the decision-making chain and more funding (Interviewee 8; see Annex 3).

"For example, municipal authorities may claim the problem lies with the provincial or district government. Those subnational authorities may in turn point the finger either back downwards to the local level, or upwards to the national level. National officials, in turn, may claim that the problem resides at the subnational level, or they blame international actors. International actors, in turn, are quite capable of side-stepping their coresponsibility by shifting blame to national or subnational governments" (Fox 2016).

Further, where initiatives focused at one level have affected the desired changes, scaling up often means replication of the same initiative in other locations. This does not, however, account for the contextual variations in causal pathways. One interviewee suggested that it is more effective to scale the issues rather than the initiatives themselves: "If you are doing [social accountability] at the facility level, you don't scale across every facility. You look at scaling it on issues that arise in those facilities using multi-level vertical and horizontal strategies with players at the national and local level" (Interviewee 4).

"The idea is that you have to adopt strategies at different levels depending on context. For example, if you did not have a primary health center that was functioning at the level of the community, there is no point arguing with community health workers because the stuff is out of their control. They cannot ensure infrastructural change. You have to lever up. You have to build more dynamism within your movement" (Interviewee 3).

HEALTH SYSTEM CAPACITY TO RESPOND TO THE NEEDS AND RIGHTS OF YOUTH

Health facilities and health systems may lack the skills and resources to sufficiently address the demands of youth in social accountability processes. For example, without appropriate training, mentorship, and supervision, providers may not have the capacity to engage with youth in social accountability processes and may also lack the clinical competencies to provide youth with quality services. Similarly, health systems may not collect age-disaggregated data that allows them to know how young people are accessing services, and refine strategies accordingly. Without capacity to engage meaningfully, health systems do the "bare minimum" to respond to demands and, thus, be seen as responsive without committing to a long-term, collaborative relationships with youth (Sen et al 2020).

5.3 CHALLENGES FOR SUSTAINABLE CHANGE

This landscape analysis found that a focus on short-term projects in social accountability initiatives comes at the cost of the longer-term, sustainable impact sought by social accountability. The project-based approach to FP/RH common among INGOs has instrumentalized social accountability in support of behavior change, such as higher FP uptake—an approach that "is reductive of the potential of [social accountability] in driving deeper institutional changes" (Grandvoinnet 2015).

Part of the project-based approach to social accountability is a misplaced focus on tools and the related measurements of success focused on the effective use of scorecards or digital applications. Practitioners and researchers argue that this focus has a "depoliticizing effect" on social accountability processes, which are inherently political (Interviewees 1, 3, 5; Joshi 2012).

"Current conceptualizations of social accountability suffer from what we call the 'widget' problem. Even if one narrows down the set of mechanisms currently conceived as social accountability to those that involve an element of monitoring, the range is quite large—from public expenditure tracking surveys, to community monitoring, to citizen report cards. Much of the (very limited) empirical evidence and analysis comes from social accountability initiatives that have a structured, institutional form—often driven by external actors. Assuming that the 'widget' is what leads to success ignores the range of contextual and process factors that support the widget (and the processes that comprise the widget) in the successful cases and enables it to work" (Joshi 2012).

While there is an understandable need from donors' and programmers' perspectives to demonstrate that social accountability "works" and short-term projects with strong evaluation frameworks allow for this, it may come at the expense of more meaningful consideration of the socio-institutional relationships that sit at the heart of social accountability, particularly for youth-led social accountability.

SECTION 6: PROMISING PRACTICES IN YOUTH SOCIAL ACCOUNTABILITY

It is important to situate social accountability processes within their unique contexts; "what works" in one context does not translate wholesale into another. As such, the promising practices unearthed are not necessarily universally applicable but, rather, give an indication of considerations that have facilitated



Photo: Mauricio Botero / Save the Children

implementation of youth social accountability in varying contexts. These promising practices relate to the following: 1) capacity building and support for youth, 2) capacity building of health system actors, 3) relationship building between youth and health system actors, 4) norm change, 5) digital connectedness, and 6) engagement with the health system at multiple levels.

6.1 CAPACITY BUILDING AND SUPPORT FOR YOUTH

Youth often lack information not only on their rights to health and quality services but, also, on the processes available for holding duty-bearers to account. Youth virtual consultation participants expressed frustration that, while many youth know that they are rights-holders, many do not know that accountability is a right; further, there was a sense that youth do not have a full grasp of the health and human rights commitments made by their governments. Beyond rights education, several youth pointed to the need for capacity building related to specific accountability processes—in other words, the very specific details of how it works and who is involved. One virtual consultation participant explained that building capacity may be as granular as introducing a young person to the relevant duty-bearer.

6.2 CAPACITY BUILDING FOR HEALTH SYSTEM ACTORS

There is a need to support and capacitate health system actors, including service providers, health managers, and administrators, to engage with and respond to youth in a manner that challenges prevailing hierarchies and norms (Health Policy Project 2015). In its 2019 publication *Youth Leadership, Participation and Accountability 2.0*, UNFPA highlights building "capacity of social accountability stakeholders on meaningful youth engagement" as one of 10 key facilitators for social accountability (UNFPA 2019). Given turn over within state systems, including the health system, capacity building on how to engage meaningfully and be responsive to youth has to become an institutional commitment.

6.3 RELATIONSHIP BUILDING BETWEEN YOUTH AND HEALTH SYSTEM ACTORS

In response to challenges in health system responsiveness, a promising practice is building non-adversarial, collaborative relationships between youth and health system actors. A key feature, which pushes back against the tool- and project-heavy approaches used to date, is to reposition social accountability actions as "one part of a broader and longer process of engagement between collective actors and the state" (Joshi and Houtzager 2012). This necessitates buy-in from actors within the health system and their inclusion from the outset of any new social accountability process—an important requirement for scale-up as well (Interviewee 11).

Despite challenges in health system responsiveness to youth at the facility level, there are also opportunities to build two-way relationships given their more direct linkages with communities. Evidence indicates that where service providers have collaborated with youth and seen the mutual benefits, they are keen to sustain the relationship going forward (Interviewee 7, 8, 11).

"Service providers are directly accountable—they face communities every day. For them, that's an important relationship. No matter how disrespectful, they have to work there! The community knows that they are depending on them, too. The relationship is more symbiotic there than higher up" (Interviewee 3).

6.4 CHANGES IN HIERARCHIES AND NORMS

There was recognition among several interviewees and in the literature that youth can contribute to challenging hierarchies and the norms that underpin them through their involvement in social accountability. While youth engagement in accountability can be perceived as a threat by health system actors, it can also be a driver of change. Hearing youth speak up and use their voices to catalyze change can be powerful for adults, particularly in contexts where that is unexpected. In one instance, an interviewee spoke of how during meetings with service providers in Indonesia, young women spoke out confidently about maternal health issues although their mothers would not (Interviewee 2).

"Young people are disruptive, and when they know there is a gap that can be avoided they have such a powerful and strong voice to voice it out! ... Young people are at the core. We cannot discuss issues of sexual and reproductive health and rights or employment without young people being a core aspect" (Interviewee 2).

6.5 DIGITAL CONNECTEDNESS

While the challenge of the digital divide is well documented, there are many places around the world where youth are already collectivized through social media platforms. Where this is the case, digital tools can have an organizing function for youth that allows the articulation of a collective identity and objectives. One initiative in the Southern Africa region researched where youth are accessing information about services, which led to the development of digital social accountability tools that incorporated forums for chat and exchange between youth (see case study in Annex 1). Harnessing digital tools that are already familiar to youth can help to demystify social accountability (Interviewee 6); at the same time, these tools act as an engine of social organization by putting the power directly in the hands of youth to collectivize and share information. Despite these benefits, caution should be exercised in ensuring that digital tools are not seen as social accountability in and of themselves but, rather, that there are human and social processes behind them to instigate change (Interviewee 5).

6.6 MULTI-LEVEL ACCOUNTABILITY

Many promising youth social accountability initiatives engaged at multiple levels of the health system to create change. In Uganda, for example, youth champions worked with district level health system actors, who then charted pathways for youth demands and voices to be elevated to subnational and national government budgeting and planning processes (IPPF 2019). In the case of several other initiatives, buy-in at the national, ministerial level was often a requisite first step to create an incentive for local health facility administrators and staff to engage with youth. In these cases, some degree of pressure from further up in the hierarchy and being able to report higher numbers of youth seeking services were motivating factors for hesitant providers.



Photo: Save the Children Partner

SECTION 7: RECOMMENDATIONS

Through this landscape we find that youth social accountability efforts are being implemented and have significant potential to cultivate youth leadership, improve health system responsiveness to the needs and rights of youth, and improve FP/RH outcomes. To improve youth social accountability practice, scale, and impact, we have identified four key areas for investment and focus.

1. Increase monitoring, evaluation, learning, and documentation of youth social accountability efforts in FP/RH and other health areas.

The vast majority of youth social accountability for FP/RH initiatives are not documented or evaluated, meaning we have limited evidence and learning to build on to improve youth social accountability practices. Further, existing measurement frameworks often prioritize immediate improvement in service provision and rarely capture PYD outcomes, the complexity of social accountability relationships, and longer-term changes in the health system. Monitoring, evaluation, learning, and documentation of youth social accountability initiatives should:

- Monitor short-, medium-, and long-term impacts on PYD, service delivery, and health systems.
- Assess youth social accountability's impact on PYD and FP/RH outcomes as defined by communities
 of youth themselves.
- Use collaboration, learning, and adaptation methodologies to document the complexity of implementation processes and iteratively improve key aspects of youth social accountability, including exploring different models of youth-adult partnerships and the processes by which youth-led accountability initiatives form and change relationships with other civil society actors and the institutions they seek to influence.
- Document which youth are involved (or not) in social accountability initiatives, and the
 contextual and political factors that facilitate and/or obstruct youth participation and leadership in
 social accountability efforts.

2. Prioritize investment in youth-led organizations and movements to design, implement, and sustain youth-led social accountability.

True youth leadership of social accountability initiatives remains limited. To increase youth leadership of social accountability, we recommend supporting youth-led organizations and youth-led movements to design and lead social accountability initiatives. Additional considerations for increasing youth leadership of social accountability initiatives include:

- Youth need practical information on their rights, including the right to accountability, and the details of their government's commitments to health and human rights, including in local languages. Youth also need to understand the way in which health system decisions are made and which levels of the health system are important to engage; they may need introductions to the right duty-bearers.
- Funders and partners should support cross-sectoral accountability whenever possible. Youth often want to address a range of issues, such as FP/RH, education, employment, and gender, in their social accountability efforts.
- Adults need capacity strengthening to partner meaningfully with youth in social accountability and respond effectively to youth social accountability demands.
- Social accountability initiatives and supportive partners must also seek to address the social norms that limit the value and power of young people to facilitate sustainable and effective youth-led social accountability initiatives. This includes understanding the specific social norms and power dynamics at play in each context using social norms diagnostic tools.

3. Invest in youth social accountability initiatives that target multiple levels of the health system.

Many youth social accountability efforts focus on one level of the health system (e.g., only the national level or the facility level), thus limiting the effectiveness of accountability initiatives. Youth social accountability initiatives should be supported to develop strategies that target multiple levels of the health system and to coordinate with other organizations and movements to catalyze broader change.

4. Shift from a tool-focused approach toward supporting youth movements for accountability, and emphasize transforming relationships between youth and the health system.

Tools, such as score cards and digital applications, have been a major focus of youth social accountability initiatives to date. There has been comparatively less emphasis on longer-term social accountability processes that require relationship building between rights-holders and duty-bearers. Investing in youth-led organizations and movements to lead social accountability initiatives, rather than direct implementation of social accountability tools through short-term projects, can contribute to transforming the relationship between youth and the health system.

REFERENCES

Agarwal, S., Heltberg, R., & Diachok, M. (2009). Scaling-up social accountability in World Bank operations (No. 51469, pp. 1-12). The World Bank.

http://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/423211468164948681/pdf/514690WP0Scali1Box342028B001PUBLIC1.pdf.

Aslam, G., Grandvoinnet, H. M., & Raha, S. (2015). Opening the black box: the contextual drivers of social accountability (No. 95809, pp. 1-351). The World Bank.

https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/10986/21686/9781464804816.pdf?seque.

Boydell, V., Neema, S., Wright, K., & Hardee, K. (2018). Closing the gap between people and programs: lessons from implementation of social accountability for family planning and reproductive health in Uganda. *African Journal of Reproductive Health*, 22(1), 73-84.

Boydell, V., Schaaf, M., George, A., Brinkerhoff, D. W., Van Belle, S., & Khosla, R. (2019). Building a transformative agenda for accountability in SRHR: lessons learned from SRHR and accountability literatures. *Sexual and Reproductive Health Matters*, *27*(2), 64-75. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/26410397.2019.1622357.

E2A Project. (2020). Not Without Us! A Tool for AYRH-Responsive Planning. https://www.e2aproject.org/wp-content/uploads/TARP-1-Pager English.pdf.

Folse, M., Fox, S. & Hurd, S. (2020) Evidence on the Role of Social Accountability in Advancing Women, Children, and Adolescents' Health. *Global Health Visions*. https://uploads-

 $ssl. we bflow. com/5 a 25 e 64 30 f 93 0 2000 1836 d fa/5f 31 f 7829 eff 9b 132b 7342b 3_Social\% 20 Account ability\% 20 Brief_072-0. pdf.$

Fox, J. A. (2015). Social accountability: what does the evidence really say?. *World Development*, 72, 346-361. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0305750X15000704.

Fox, J. A. (2016). Scaling accountability through vertically integrated civil society policy monitoring and advocacy. Sussex: Institute of Development Studies. https://www.ids.ac.uk/publications/scaling-accountability-through-vertically-integrated-civil-society-policy-monitoring-and-advocacy/.

Fox, J., & Halloran, B. (2016). Connecting the Dots for Accountability: Civil Society Policy Monitoring and Advocacy Strategies. https://accountabilityresearch.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/Fox-Halloran-Levy-Aceron-van-Zyl-Connecting-the-dots-for-accountability-2016.pdf.

George, A. S., Mohan, D., Gupta, J., et al. (2018). Can community action improve equity for maternal health and how does it do so? Research findings from Gujarat, India. *International Journal for Equity in Health*, *17*(1), 125. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1186/s12939-018-0838-5.

Ghana: Youth take the lead in addressing poor health services. (2020). Retrieved 16 December 2020, from https://plan-international.org/eu/case-study-ghana-adolescent-sexual-and-reproductive-health.

Gullo, S., Galavotti, C., Sebert Kuhlmann, A., Msiska, T., Hastings, P., & Marti, C. N. (2017). Effects of a social accountability approach, CARE's Community Score Card, on reproductive health-related outcomes in Malawi: A cluster-randomized controlled evaluation. *PLoS One*, *12*(2), e0171316. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28187159/.

Hoffman, K. D. (2014). The role of social accountability in improving health outcomes: Overview and analysis of selected international NGO experiences to advance the field. Washington, DC: CORE Group. https://coregroup.org/wp-content/uploads/media-

backup/documents/Resources/Tools/Social Accountability Final online.pdf.

Independent Accountability Panel for Every Woman, Every Child, Every Adolescent. (2017). Transformative accountability for adolescents: accountability for the health and human rights of women, children and adolescents in the 2030 agenda. https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/259699/9789241512992-eng.pdf.

IPPF. (2016). Youth-led monitoring and social accountability. http://share-netinternational.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/IPPF-youth-accountability-Sharenet-Sep-2016.pdf.

Joshi, A. (2013). Do they work? Assessing the impact of transparency and accountability initiatives in service delivery. *Development Policy Review*, *31*, s29-s48. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/57a08aabe5274a27b20006dd/60827_DPRJoshi_Preprint.pdf.

Joshi, A. (2014). Reading the local context: a causal chain approach to social accountability. *IDS Bulletin*, 45(5), 23-35. https://opendocs.ids.ac.uk/opendocs/bitstream/handle/20.500.12413/7339/IDSB_45_5_10.1111-1759-5436.12101.pdf?sequence=1.

Joshi, A., & Houtzager, P. P. (2012). Widgets or watchdogs? Conceptual explorations in social accountability. *Public Management Review*, *14*(2), 145-162. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/14719037.2012.657837.

Joshi, A., & Lavalle, A. G. (No date). *Collective action around service delivery 'how social accountability can improve service delivery for poor people'*. Sussex: Institute of Development Studies. Available on request from the Institute of Development Studies.

Lodenstein, E., Dieleman, M., Gerretsen, B., & Broerse, J. E. (2017). Health provider responsiveness to social accountability initiatives in low-and middle-income countries: a realist review. *Health Policy and Planning*, *32*(1), 125-140. https://academic.oup.com/heapol/article/32/1/125/2555394.

McGinn, E., & Lipsky, A. (2015). Social Accountability: A primer for civil society organizations working in family planning and reproductive health. *Health Policy Project*.

https://www.healthpolicyproject.com/index.cfm?id=publications&get=pubID&pubId=449.

The Packard Foundation (2019). U-Decide 2.0: Youth-led social accountability for SRHR. https://www.packard.org/awardee/u-decide-2-0-youth-led-social-accountability-to-improve-the-quality-of-sexual-and-reproductive-health-and-rights/.

Pade-Khene, C., Sieborger, I., Ngwerume, P., & Rusike, C. (2020). Enabling Digital Social Accountability Monitoring of Adolescent Sexual Reproductive Health Services: MobiSAfAIDS. In Proceedings of the 28th European Conference on Information Systems (ECIS), An Online AIS Conference, June 15-17, 2020. https://aisel.aisnet.org/ecis2020 rp/36/.

Save the Children. (2008). Partnership Defined Quality for Youth: A process manual for improving reproductive health services through youth-provider collaboration.

https://resourcecentre.savethechildren.net/library/partnership-defined-quality-youth-process-manual-improving-reproductive-health-services.

Save the Children. (2009). Adolescent Defined Quality "Making Decisions" – A Project with adolescents and youth Bolivia 2006-2009. https://resourcecentre.savethechildren.net/library/adolescent-defined-quality-making-decisions-project-adolescents-and-youth-bolivia-2006-2009.

Schaaf, M., Boydell, V., Van Belle, S., Brinkerhoff, D. W., & George, A. (2020). Accountability for SRHR in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic. *Sexual and Reproductive Health Matters*, *28*(1), 1779634. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/pdf/10.1080/26410397.2020.1779634.

Sen, G., lyer, A., Chattopadhyay, S., & Khosla, R. (2020). When accountability meets power: realizing sexual and reproductive health and rights. *International Journal for Equity in Health*, *19*(1), 1-11. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1186/s12939-020-01221-4.

Shanklin, D., & Wilcox, S. (2017). Social Accountability Tools and Resources. Core Group. https://coregroup.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/SocialAccountabilityTools.pdf.

Steyn, P. S., Cordero, J. P., Gichangi, P., et al. (2016). Participatory approaches involving community and healthcare providers in family planning/contraceptive information and service provision: a scoping review. *Reproductive Health*, *13*(1), 1-13. https://reproductive-health-journal.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12978-016-0198-9.

TCI University (No date) AYSRH-Accountability-Advocacy. The Challenge Initiative. https://tciurbanhealth.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/AYSRH-Accountability.pdf.

Unequal Voices: The Politics of Accountability for Equity in Health Systems - Institute of Development Studies. (2016). Retrieved 16 December 2020, from https://www.ids.ac.uk/projects/unequal-voices-the-politics-of-accountability-for-equity-in-health-systems/.

UNFPA and Restless Development. (2019). Youth Leadership, Participation and Accountability 2.0. https://esaro.unfpa.org/en/publications/youth-leadership-participation-and-accountability-20-parts-1-2-and-3.

Van Belle, S., Boydell, V., George, A. S., Brinkerhof, D. W., & Khosla, R. (2018). Broadening understanding of accountability ecosystems in sexual and reproductive health and rights: A systematic review. *PloS One*, *13*(5), e0196788. https://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0196788.

ANNEX 1: TRANSFORMING LIVES CASE STUDY

Project name: Transforming the Policy Environment for Accelerating Access to Sexual and Reproductive Health and Rights (SRHR) by Adolescents and Young People, within an SDGs Framework, in Southern Africa (Transforming Lives)

Funder: Swedish International Development Agency

Timeline: January–2018 ongoing

Objectives: Strengthen the capacity of regional youth organizations and networks in social accountability monitoring of the delivery of youth-friendly gender-based violence (GBV) and HIV information and services and FP/RH care in Southern Africa, by 2021.

Social accountability approach: Youth use the MobiSAfAIDS Application to register concerns about the quality of health services. Health facilities respond and provide feedback on the response via the application. Click here to visit the MobiSAfAIDS website.

BACKGROUND

Social accountability is a core part of the work of Harare-based SAfAIDS, a center of excellence that promotes effective and ethical development responses to reproductive health and HIV (including prevention of mother to child transmission and tuberculosis) through advocacy, communication, and social mobilization. While SAfAIDS is not a youth-led organization, young people are core to the organization's work.

The Social Accountability Monitoring for SRHR (SAM4SRHR) project implements a three-pronged approach: 1) capacity strengthening and community mobilization, 2) generation of social accountability and monitoring data on health services through the MobiSAfAIDS app and other methods, and 3) design of collaborative policy advocacy actions to address health challenges faced by young people.

SOCIAL ACCOUNTABILITY APPROACH

The MobiSAfAIDS pilot was rolled out in six countries: Eswatini, Lesotho, Malawi, South Africa, Zambia, and Zimbabwe. Across these countries, the project involves a total of seven municipalities, eight public health facilities, 14 public health service providers, and seven civil society organizations. Most sites involve one to two civil society organizations and one to two facility administrators; in some contexts, local authorities are also involved.

The MobiSAfAIDS web and mobile application is being used by young people to monitor and report on quality issues they experience at local health facilities. Services being monitored by young people include gender-based violence (GBV), FP counseling and provision, and HIV testing, information, and counseling. The MobiSAfAIDS app can be downloaded for free by anyone in one of the eight pilot sites. It is promoted locally by young people who have been trained as social accountability and monitoring youth champions. Click here to view the MobiSAfAIDS tutorial video on YouTube.

When a young person identifies or experiences a service barrier or quality issue, they can report this by initiating a ticket through the app. The ticket is put in the queue for that particular health facility and the administrator is notified that there is a new report waiting. The facility administrator reviews the ticket and assigns it to a staff member to resolve the issue. Through the app, the responsible staff member is able to respond to the anonymous youth to communicate how the issue has been resolved. The final decision to close the ticket rests with the youth, who may not agree to close the ticket should they not be satisfied that

the issue is sufficiently resolved. If this is the case, the facility administrator is notified and it is assigned again. In the context of COVID-19, tickets entered into the app have reflected emerging issues regarding access to services, while also capturing the surge in GBV among young people under lockdown.

Young people have been involved throughout the project, from pitching the idea and seeking buy-in from the government, to training other young people in the pilot sites. Young people shaped the application's features, and SAfAIDS continues to receive feedback and to refine and change the system based on their inputs. Each participating clinic used in-person support from the pilot's young volunteers, who would support young people seeking services with logging service issues, particularly when accessing a smartphone or data was a barrier, and also to provide a link between the young person seeking services, the facility, the implementing partners, and SAfAIDS. Young people were also supported to participate in advocacy activities, such as meetings with local health authorities.

IMPACT

While the initiative is still being evaluated, impacts to date have included a marked increase in the number of young people accessing health facilities. There has also been increased awareness among government decision-makers and facility administrators of the barriers that exist for youth to access quality services. A number of facilities have developed youth-friendly corners or zones where young people can feel confident and comfortable asking for help. Staff have also reported integrating information from the app into their staff meetings, where issues can be discussed as a team, and used for planning and decision-making.

Some governments, including Eswatini, South Africa, and Zambia have started budgeting to help support the continuous operation of the project. However, this also raises questions around ownership and decision-making around the project, the technology, and the implementation, which could threaten the longer-term sustainability of this project.

ANNEX 2: PARTNERSHIP DEFINED QUALITY FOR YOUTH CASE STUDY

Project name: Partnership Defined Quality for Youth (PDQ-Y), Integrated into Adolescent

Reproductive Health Programme in Nepal

Funder: Save the Children **Timeline:** 2007–ongoing

Objectives: PDQ-Y in Nepal aims to actively engage adolescents from a diversity of backgrounds in

the process of improving the quality of FP/RH care.

Social accountability approach: A four step process involving dialogues among adolescents, adolescents and health providers, and action planning for quality improvement. The guide for this process is available in *Partnership Defined Quality for Youth: A Process Manual for Improving Reproductive Health Services Through Youth-Provider Collaboration*. Click here to view this

publication online.

BACKGROUND

Partnership Defined Quality (PDQ) has been used within Save the Children as an approach for quality improvement and social accountability since the early 2000s. In 2007, the Nepal team adapted the PDQ methodology for adolescents (ages 10–19) and piloted it in Kanchanpur District. Thereafter, the approach was integrated into a program in the Siraha District in the Terai of Nepal, where coverage of preventive health services was low and where vulnerable groups rarely used facilities. PDQ-Y later expanded to the Districts of Kapilvastu and Pyuthan (Save the Children 2008).

SOCIAL ACCOUNTABILITY APPROACH

The PDQ-Y approach is premised on the assumption that the use of services by adolescents should increase as the perceived quality, accessibility, and acceptability of those services increases. Without partnership with adolescents, their perspectives are often overlooked and services fail to meet their real and perceived needs. PDQ-Y promotes partnership with adolescents not only to yield increases in the utilization and quality of health services but also to contribute to their development and empowerment.

The PDQ-Y approach follows a four phase process: 1) building support, 2) exploring quality, 3) bridging the gap, and 4) working in partnership (Save the Children 2008). To build support (phase one), a quality improvement facilitator held orientations with adolescents, service providers, and local health operation and management committees to explain the PDQ-Y process. This phase also included cultivating the confidence of adolescents in decision-making spaces, such as in local health committees. For the second phase, the facilitator held focus group discussions separately with adolescents and service providers to understand their ideas about quality and youth-adult partnership in an open and safe environment. During the bridging the gap phase (phase 3), the ideas generated during phase two were discussed in dialogues between adolescents, service providers, and local health operation and management committee members, and joint action plans developed for quality improvement. Quality improvement teams including youth, service providers, and health operation and management committee members, were established to oversee the plans during this implementation in phase four. They meet regularly to monitor progress and the facilitator supported youth participation in these forums.

IMPACT

In the two districts where PDQ-Y was first implemented, program staff from Save the Children as well as local health authorities recognized the value of the approach soon after commencing. Within several years, PDQ-Y had been implemented in 62 health facilities, the majority of community health facilities within the two districts. In these facilities, structural changes were made to ensure privacy and confidentiality for adolescents. This included, for example, the establishment of youth corners, private rooms for youth counseling, and provision of informational materials in a confidential manner. In addition, practical changes such as extended opening hours were made to ensure accessibility; training on youth-friendly services was provided for health professionals. Health facilities reported increases in the number of young clients as well as satisfaction levels during exit interviews.

Throughout the entire PDQ-Y process, adolescents had opportunities to share their experiences and opinions on how services should be improved and they were also provided with opportunities to increase communication and leadership skills. Adolescents trained through the program were involved subsequently in budget advocacy for funds to implement the quality improvement action plans and acted as representatives during health management and operation committee meetings.

"Because of adolescents' engagement, many facilities turned into adolescent-friendly services. It wasn't possible to move in that direction without their participation. ... Adolescents were the change agents!" (Interviewee 8)

Based on more than a decade of experience implementing the approach, the Save the Children team noted the following lessons:

- The PDQ-Y approach has meaningful, positive effects on the quality of services for adolescents at the facility level. However, for those improvements that require systemic changes to the health system, the approach has not led to the desired changes sought by adolescents.
- Supporting the participation and leadership of adolescents over a long period of time is challenging for a number of reasons, including adolescents' competing priorities and interests, education timetables, and migration. Working with existing youth clubs is a more sustainable option.
- Distrust of authorities among adolescents who experience poverty is a barrier to participation: '...the problem among them [was] that those people from the poor societies or economically deprived—those people hardly raise their voices. That's what we observed. For that reason, we engaged them indirectly. We chose a few adolescents who were vocal in the committees."
- The PDQ-Y process is time and resource intensive.

ANNEX 3: YOUTH ENGAGE CASE STUDY

Project name: Simba Utano (Health is Power) in Zimbabwe. Click here for more information online.

Funder: Global Affairs Canada with contributions from the Canadian public

Timeline: Ongoing

Objectives:

1. Increased utilization of equitable FP/RH care, GBV, and HIV services by vulnerable adolescent girls and young women (AGYW) in four districts of Zimbabwe.

- **2.** Improved delivery of quality, gender-responsive, inclusive care and support to address priority needs of adolescents and young people, particularly AGYW.
- **3.** Improved effectiveness of young people, particularly AGYW, and community organizations to advocate for evidence-based, equitable, accountable, and quality services and policies.

Social accountability approach: Youth data reporters use scorecards to gather data and advocate for changes based on the scorecard findings.

BACKGROUND

As part of the Simba Utano project, Youth Engage is a grassroots youth-led network in Zimbabwe that works toward data-driven accountability to measure and advance the impact of Zimbabwe's targets, policies, and interventions relating to young people's health. After being introduced to the concept of social accountability in 2015, Youth Engage started to drive its own social accountability work around the SDGs, with a specific focus on addressing barriers to young people's access to FP/RH care at the facility level.

Simba Utano is a four-year project to strengthen young people's access to FP/RH care and HIV treatment and care in four districts. The project is jointly implemented by the International Coalition on HIV/AIDS and Development (ICAD) and the International Council of AIDS Service Organizations in Canada, Katswe Sistahood, and Youth Engage. It aims to reach over 31,000 adolescent girls and young women and 12,000 adolescent boys and young men. Moreover, it works with parents, youth volunteers, health workers, and religious and community leaders to improve FP/RH and HIV health indicators for adolescent girls and young women. It also seeks to influence policies at the district and national level.

SOCIAL ACCOUNTABILITY APPROACH

Youth Engage's youth data reporters use scorecards to collect and analyze quantitative and qualitative data from the district health facility level. Youth reporters are chosen from an applicant pool of young people who are already working in the community on issues of FP/RH and receive a year-long training. Data generated by youth reporters is used for a variety of purposes, including informing policy dialogues at a district level, budgeting for services, and advocating for changes in cultural, religious, and traditional practices that hinder youth access. The ultimate vision is for young people to lead change at the community level and hold health facility administrators and decision-makers accountable using the data they gather.

LEARNING

Simba Utano has provided an opportunity for Youth Engage to participate in social accountability at the district level in a context where many funders are interested in national youth-led advocacy. Staff at Youth Engage highlighted the need for holistic approaches that ensure youth can engage from the grassroots to the national level, including in budget development processes. Youth Engage emphasized the need to develop youth-led social accountability processes that continue to exist even after the civil society organization and their social accountability projects have left.

ANNEX 4: YOUTH SOCIAL ACCOUNTABILITY INITIATIVES

Organization	Country	Objective	Level	Description	
MULTI-REGION					
Population Action International	Malawi, Zambia, Tanzania, Kenya, Ethiopia, Uganda, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Côte d'Ivoire, Nepal, India, Indonesia, Bangladesh	To advocate for increased funding and improved policies on adolescent and youth, RH, HIV, and related topics	Subnational and national	YOUAccess is specifically designed to provide youth-led organizations with funding and technical assistance. Social accountability initiatives have included budget-tracking at the subnational level and hosting roundtable discussions and forums with young people, key decision-makers from the ministry of health, the county assembly, religious leaders, and police (YOUAccess 2019).	
The Youth Coalition/ The PACT	Cambodia, Egypt, Fiji, Ghana, Laos, Indonesia, Mali, Mexico, Myanmar, Nigeria, Russia, Panama, Philippines, Sri Lanka, Ukraine, Zambia	To improve the quality of FP/RH care and HIV services and to hold governments accountable to their commitments	Subnational, national	#UPROOT is a global, youth-led agenda aimed at ending AIDS by 2030 and advancing health and rights. With the participation of more than 400 young people, #UPROOT scorecards were finalized and validated through national consultations conducted in 16 countries resulting in advocacy roadmaps in nine countries as a mechanism to hold governments accountable for their commitments (The PACT no date).	
AFRICA	AFRICA				
N/A	Eastern and Southern Africa region	To give voice to young people's FP/RH demands	National and regional	A group of 23 youth activists from 17 countries in the Eastern and Southern Africa region developed recommendations on FP/RH, which they used to advocate during key moments such as the International Conference on Family Planning and Nairobi Summit and to interface with duty-bearers at the national level (Interviewee 2).	
SAFAIDS	Zambia, Lesotho, South Africa, Eswatini, Malawi	To improve the delivery of FP/RH care and HIV services provided in their context	Facility	Young people trained to use the MobiSAfAIDS application on their phones report on the quality and delivery of FP/RH care, which then is then fed back to the facilities and SAFAids in real-time to inform quality improvement and advocacy (see MobiSAfAIDS case study in Annex 1).	

Restless Development	Ghana, Kenya, Malawi, Tanzania, Uganda, the UK, and Zambia	To improve service provision for young people and to institute citizen participation in accountability mechanisms	National	Accountability Advocates is a network of 20 young leaders who, with the support of Restless Development and their partners, are leading the process of developing national accountability frameworks. The network's work includes monitoring and reviewing service delivery, producing citizen-friendly resources, generating data, convening stakeholders and lobbying for greater youth participation (CORE Group 2017).
N/A	Democratic Republic of the Congo	To address GBV in South Kivu province	Subnational	Grassroots youth clubs for adolescents have set up committees to monitor GBV in educational settings and to hold duty-bearers to account. Advocates from legal clinics work with the adolescents to report violations, thereby enabling them to better understand their rights and the law, and to encourage and refer their peers to various services (IAP 2017).
Plan International	Ghana	To reduce maternal mortality and ensure access to health services including FP/RH care and maternal health care	Subnational	The Young Voices Project built the capacity of young advocates to use social accountability tools to ensure standards of FP/RH care in the Patients' Charter and Nurses' Code of Ethics were implemented. The project entailed the development of joint youth-service provider action plans (Plan no date).
The Kenya National Commission on Human Rights, the Federation of Women Lawyers– Kenya, and the Center for Reproductive Rights	Kenya	To conduct a public inquiry into violations of health rights	National	In 2012, the Kenya National Commission on Human Rights partnered with the Federation of Women Lawyers–Kenya and the Center for Reproductive Rights to conduct a public inquiry into violations of rights. The inquiry used interviews, desk reviews, and public hearings to gather data and develop recommendations, including for young women. The inquiry's report aimed to document the extent of violations within the public health sector, and to suggest appropriate redress and remedies (TCI University no date).
CARE	Malawi	To identify barriers to young people accessing services	Subnational	Through application of a health facility scorecard assessment process in Ntcheu, youth identified that they needed safe spaces to talk about their health issues and needs. In response, the Maternal Health Alliance Project worked with a district government official to establish youth clubs in half of the intervention sites. The clubs provided a forum for adolescents to develop and implement solutions to overcome their unique barriers (CARE 2020).
Youth Net and Counselling (YONECO)	Malawi	To improve the quality of reproductive, maternal, newborn, child, and adolescent health services	Subnational	YONECO used the outcomes of <i>bwalo</i> forums, a traditional method of dialogue being used as part of UNICEF's Social Accountability for Every Women Every Child project, as content in its radio broadcasts to young listeners. This provided young people with an opportunity to engage with the outcomes and use them in their own advocacy (Butler et al 2020).
N/A	Tanzania	To hold governments accountable for commitments under SDGs and FP2020	National	Youth accountability advocates were trained and worked with an additional 10 young people to conduct research or gather data that allowed them to engage with local duty-bearers. Each young person picked their topic (GBV, FP, etc.), and focused on that, then they engaged at different advocacy moments (Interviewee 2).

Restless Development and UNICEF	Uganda	To hold decision- makers accountable for their commitments on health, child marriage, and employment	Subnational and national	Restless Development and UNICEF supported youth to hold decision-makers accountable for their commitments on health, child marriage, and employment. The project worked with 40 young leaders and generated community-level data across four districts in Uganda using a text message-based feedback platform. The data and analyses were shared and discussed at community consultations and with district and subnational-level decision-makers (PMNCH no date).
UNFPA	Uganda	To hold district health officers to account for improving the quality of youth-friendly services (YFS)	Subnational	ASHWA, a youth-led organization operating in Busia, Uganda, partnered with a local radio station to hold district health officers to account on access to HIV treatment. The radio station recorded meetings between young people and local leaders and later aired the sessions for the community to hear and join in the discussion. Community members use this platform to draw attention to problems they experience, such as accessing HIV drugs on time, and are able to call on the local leader to ensure that stock is replenished by the national drug authority in a timely manner (UNFPA 2019).
Reproductive Health Uganda	Uganda	To improve the quality of YFS and to ensure youth participation in local government planning and budgeting processes	Subnational and national	In Uganda's Gulu district, Reproductive Health Uganda identified a number of champions among district duty-bearers before the design of the youth-led social accountability pilot. These duty-bearers were trained together with peer educators in social accountability to strengthen the rights of young people. The champions became instrumental in linking young people to the most important decision-makers in the district and raising voices on issues of YFS in the local media. They also became key allies during meetings and reinforced the voices of young people calling for YFS during the local government planning and budgeting processes (IPPF 2019).
Reach A Hand Uganda	Uganda	To improve the quality of FP/RH care and HIV services in Uganda	Facility	Reach A Hand Uganda created a youth-led social accountability system to improve the quality of adolescent and youth health services by assessing and monitoring the quality of services using an e-referral card system (SAUTIPlus) and results-based bonuses for high-performing health centers. The SAUTIPlus e-referral card taps into locally-developed technology to confidentially refer adolescents and young people to health centers for YFS. The SAUTIPlus app operated on phones used by peer educators and computers and tablets used by health centers to collect and monitor data on quality of service provision (U-Decide 2.0 no date).
Youth Engage	Zimbabwe	To strengthen access to FP/RH care and HIV services and to realize rights	Subnational and national	Simba Utano is a four-year project to strengthen access to health and rights in four districts by working with youth reporters to collect data and hold health system to account (see Youth Engage Case Study, Annex 3).

ASIA				
Copasah	India	To improve maternal health for young, married women	Subnational	Groups of married young men engaged in community discussion groups about maternal health and gendered roles in households and societies. They were supported to develop village charters for holding each other accountable and health charters for holding the state accountable for high quality maternal health services (Interviewee 3).
Save the Children	Nepal	To improve the quality of FP/RH care for young people	Facility	A series of group discussions with young people, providers, and community health committees provided insights into their perspectives on the quality of service provision for youth. Quality improvement plans and quality improvement teams were developed and carried out actions to improve the quality based on youth inputs (see PDQ-Y case study in Annex 2).
World Vision	Indonesia	To raise issues of concern to young women around maternal health	Subnational	Young women were invited to community meetings to raise issues regarding resistance, including from their mothers, of bringing midwives provided by the government into their community (Interviewee 4).
EUROPE				
Czech Family Planning Association	Czech Republic	To provide young women with assurance of the youth friendliness of providers	Facility	Health care providers who committed themselves to youth-friendly service provision and are assessed by youth to determine if they adhere to the standards set by young people. If they do, they receive a certificate to display in their clinic (IPPF 2016).

LATIN AMERICA				
N/A	Argentina	Ensuring adequate budget allocation for youth services	Subnational	The Municipality of Rosario conducted annual participatory youth budgeting exercise, engaging young people across six districts to decide on budget allocations for youth services. Young people identified the priorities within their communities and elected a youth representative to speak on these issues. The delegates from youth councils, which meet regularly for several months, developed youth-oriented projects based on these same community priorities. This exercise allows the identification of gaps in services and proposals for actions to address them (PMNCH no date).
CIES	Bolivia	To ensure the inclusion of young people's demands in the development of a new FP/RH bill	Subnational and national	Centro de Investigación, Educación y Servicios (CIES) in Bolivia involved youth networks in the Voices project, which focused on securing passage of a bill at the local government level to provide YFS. Young people participated in ensuring the rights of young people, including the right to access FP/RH care, were incorporated into the autonomous bylaws of three regions (IPPF 2016).
Save the Children	Bolivia	To improve the quality of FP/RH care for young people	Subnational	The Making Decisions project aimed to increase the quality and availability of information and reproductive health services for youth using the Partnership Defined Quality for Youth model. This model engaged youth in identifying improvements needed in 35 health facilities across 15 municipalities. Health providers also conducted self-assessments. Jointly, youth and health providers developed action plans to address the identified shortcomings (Save the Children 2009).
APLAFA	Panama	To conduct a social audit of the youth friendliness of public health clinics	Facility	Asociación Panameña Para el Planeamiento de la Familia (APLAFA) trained young social auditors to conduct interviews with directors and young users of public clinics. The audit, which focused on service provision, infrastructure, and supplies, was officially recognized by the Minister of Health and, after use, three clinics signed agreements consenting to implement recommendations from young people. The initiative was later replicated in the Dominican Republic (IPPF 2016).
N/A	Peru	To change the law in relation to consensual sex among teenagers	National	A landmark constitutional case was won when more than 10 thousand youth successfully challenged the criminalization of consensual sex—a law that acted as a barrier to their access to services. In 2013, the courts ruled in their favor, declaring that young people aged 14–18 years had a right to personal autonomy and self-determination with regard to their sexuality. In 2016, building on this landmark case, the new Ministry of Health FP guidelines removed a major barrier to adolescents' access, enabling 15–18-year-olds to seek FP/RH care without their parents' accompaniment (IAP 2017).

ANNEX 5: LITERATURE REVIEWED

Agarwal, S., Heltberg, R., & Diachok, M. (2009). Scaling-up social accountability in World Bank operations (No. 51469, pp. 1-12). The World Bank.

http://documents 1. worldbank.org/curated/en/423211468164948681/pdf/514690WP0Scali1Box 342028B001PUBLIC1.pdf.

Aslam, G., Grandvoinnet, H. M., & Raha, S. (2015). Opening the black box: the contextual drivers of social accountability (No. 95809, pp. 1-351). The World Bank.

https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/10986/21686/9781464804816.pdf.

Boydell, V., & Keesbury, J. (2014). Social accountability: what are the lessons for improving family planning and reproductive health programs? A review of the literature. *The Evidence Project*. https://knowledgecommons.popcouncil.org/departments_sbsr-rh/941/.

Boydell, V., Neema, S., Wright, K., & Hardee, K. (2018). Closing the gap between people and programs: lessons from implementation of social accountability for family planning and reproductive health in Uganda. *African Journal of Reproductive Health*, 22(1), 73-84.

https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/26410397.2019.1622357.

Boydell, V., Schaaf, M., George, A., Brinkerhoff, D. W., Van Belle, S., & Khosla, R. (2019). Building a transformative agenda for accountability in SRHR: lessons learned from SRHR and accountability literatures. *Sexual and Reproductive Health Matters*, *27*(2), 64-

75.https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/26410397.2019.1622357.

Brinkerhoff, D. W., & Wetterberg, A. (2016). Gauging the effects of social accountability on services, governance, and citizen empowerment. *Public Administration Review*, *76*(2), 274-286. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/puar.12399.

Butler, N., Johnson, G., Chiweza, A., Aung, K. M., Quinley, J., Rogers, K., & Bedford, J. (2020). A strategic approach to social accountability: Bwalo forums within the reproductive maternal and child health accountability ecosystem in Malawi. *BMC health services research*, 20(1), 1-16.

https://bmchealthservres.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12913-020-05394-0.

CARE. (2020). A journey through the CSC in Malawi. Cooperative for Assistance and Relief Everywhere, Inc. https://insights.careinternational.org.uk/media/k2/attachments/CARE_CSC-Journey_July-2020.pdf.

CARE. (2020). Government-led CSC for family planning services. Cooperative for Assistance and Relief Everywhere, Inc. https://insights.careinternational.org.uk/media/k2/attachments/CARE_Government-led-CSC-family-planning-services July-2020.pdf.

CARE Malawi. (2013). The Community Score Card (CSC): A generic guide for implementing CARE's CSC process to improve quality of services. Cooperative for Assistance and Relief Everywhere, Inc. https://care.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/FP-2013-CARE_CommunityScoreCardToolkit.pdf.

E2A Project. (2020). Not Without Us! A Tool for AYRH-Responsive Planning. https://www.e2aproject.org/wp-content/uploads/TARP-1-Pager_English.pdf.

Flores, W. (2011). Community monitoring for accountability in health: review of literature. Open Society Foundations-Accountability and Monitoring in Health Initiative Public Health Program, 1-28. https://namati.org/wp-

 $content/uploads/2015/06/literature_review_community_monitoring_social_accountability_in_health.pdf.$

Folse, M., Fox, S. & Hurd, S. (2020) Evidence on the Role of Social Accountability in Advancing Women, Children, and Adolescents' Health. *Global Health Visions*. https://uploads-ssl.webflow.com/5a25e6430f93020001836dfa/5f31f7829eff9b132b7342b3_Social%20Accountability%20Brief_072 0.pdf.

Fox, J. A. (2016). Scaling accountability through vertically integrated civil society policy monitoring and advocacy. Sussex: Institute of Development Studies. https://www.ids.ac.uk/publications/scaling-accountability-through-vertically-integrated-civil-society-policy-monitoring-and-advocacy/.

Fox, J. A. (2015). Social accountability: what does the evidence really say? *World Development*, 72, 346-361. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0305750X15000704.

Fox, J., & Halloran, B. (2016). Connecting the Dots for Accountability: Civil Society Policy Monitoring and Advocacy Strategies. https://accountabilityresearch.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/Fox-Halloran-Levy-Aceron-van-Zyl-Connecting-the-dots-for-accountability-2016.pdf.

George, A. S., Mohan, D., Gupta, J., et al. (2018). Can community action improve equity for maternal health and how does it do so? Research findings from Gujarat, India. *International journal for equity in health*, *17*(1), 125. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1186/s12939-018-0838-5.

Ghana: Youth take the lead in addressing poor health services. (2020). Retrieved 16 December 2020, from https://plan-international.org/eu/case-study-ghana-adolescent-sexual-and-reproductive-health.

Gullo, S., Galavotti, C., Sebert Kuhlmann, A., Msiska, T., Hastings, P., & Marti, C. N. (2017). Effects of a social accountability approach, CARE's Community Score Card, on reproductive health-related outcomes in Malawi: A cluster-randomized controlled evaluation. *PLoS One*, *12*(2), e0171316. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28187159/.

Hoffman, K. D. (2014). The role of social accountability in improving health outcomes: Overview and analysis of selected international NGO experiences to advance the field. Washington, DC: CORE Group. https://coregroup.org/wp-content/uploads/media-backup/documents/Resources/Tools/Social_Accountability_Final_online.pdf.

Independent Accountability Panel for Every Woman, Every Child, Every Adolescent. (2017). Transformative accountability for adolescents: accountability for the health and human rights of women, children and adolescents in the 2030 agenda. https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/259699/9789241512992-eng.pdf.

IPPF. (2016). IMAP Statement on social accountability to achieve high quality service provision. https://www.ippf.org/sites/default/files/imap_social_accountability_web_1.pdf.

IPPF. (2016). Youth-led monitoring and social accountability. http://share-netinternational.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/IPPF-youth-accountability-Sharenet-Sep-2016.pdf.

IPPF. (2019). A Guide to Using Community Score Cards for Youth-Led Social Accountability. https://srhrallianceug.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/Youth-Led-Social-Accountability-Manual-IPPF.pdf.

Joshi, A. (2013). Do they work? Assessing the impact of transparency and accountability initiatives in service delivery. *Development Policy Review*, *31*, s29-s48.

 $https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/57a08aabe5274a27b20006dd/60827_DPRJoshi_Preprint.pdf$

Joshi, A. (2014). Reading the local context: a causal chain approach to social accountability. *IDS Bulletin*, 45(5), 23-35. https://opendocs.ids.ac.uk/opendocs/bitstream/handle/20.500.12413/7339/IDSB_45_5_10.1111-1759-5436.12101.pdf?sequence=1

Joshi, A., & Houtzager, P. P. (2012). Widgets or watchdogs? Conceptual explorations in social accountability. *Public Management Review*, *14*(2), 145-162. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/14719037.2012.657837

Joshi, A., & Lavalle, A. G. (No date). Collective action around service delivery 'how social accountability can improve service delivery for poor people'. Sussex: Institute of Development Studies. Available on request from the Institute of Development Studies.

Accountability Research Center. (2016). Learning exchange about transparency and accountability strategies and reproductive health systems. American University Available on request from the Accountability Research Center.

Lodenstein, E., Dieleman, M., Gerretsen, B., & Broerse, J. E. (2017). Health provider responsiveness to social accountability initiatives in low-and middle-income countries: a realist review. *Health Policy and Planning*, 32(1), 125-140. https://academic.oup.com/heapol/article/32/1/125/2555394

McGinn, E., & Lipsky, A. (2015). Social Accountability: A primer for civil society organizations working in family planning and reproductive health. *Health Policy Project*.

https://www.healthpolicyproject.com/index.cfm?id=publications&get=pubID&pubId=449

Nelson, E., Bloom, G., & Shankland, A. (2018). Accountability for Health Equity: Galvanising a Movement for Universal Health Coverage.

 $https://opendocs.ids.ac.uk/opendocs/bitstream/handle/20.500.12413/13691/IDSB492_10.190881968-2018.127.pdf?sequence=1$

Pade-Khene, C., Siebörger, I., Ngwerume, P., & Rusike, C. (2020). Enabling Digital Social Accountability Monitoring of Adolescent Sexual Reproductive Health Services: MobiSAfAIDS. *In Proceedings of the 28th European Conference on Information Systems (ECIS)*, An Online AIS Conference, June 15-17, 2020. https://aisel.aisnet.org/ecis2020 rp/36/.

PAI (2019) From Trust to Change: How YouAccess supports youth-led advocacy. https://pai.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/PAI-3284-Case-Study-Synthesis-FINAL-1.pdf.

Partnership for Maternal, Newborn & Child Health. (No date). Adolescent and youth accountability brief. https://www.who.int/pmnch/adolescent_brief.pdf.

Restless Development. (No date). Youth-led Accountability for SDGs. https://thecommonwealth.org/sites/default/files/inline/Commonwealth%20report.pdf.

Results for Development. (2014). Social Accountability for reproductive health and family planning. General Membership Meeting of the Reproductive Health Supplies Coalition, October 20-24, 2014.

https://www.rhsupplies.org/fileadmin/uploads/rhsc/General_Membership_Meetings/Mexico_2014/Presentations/Day_2/MexicoR4D.pdf.

Sarriot, E., & Cant, S. (2019). Collective action for improving health services. Why the evidence will continue to be mixed and what to do about it. Retrieved 18 October 2020, from

http://systems4health.blogspot.com/2019/11/collective-action-for-improving-health.html.

Save the Children. (2008). Partnership Defined Quality for Youth: A process manual for improving reproductive health services through youth-provider collaboration.

https://resource centre.s ave the children.net/library/partnership-defined-quality-youth-process-manual-improving-reproductive-health-services

Save the Children. (2009). Adolescent Defined Quality "Making Decisions" – A Project with Adolescents and Youth Bolivia 2006-2009. https://resourcecentre.savethechildren.net/library/adolescent-defined-quality-making-decisions-project-adolescents-and-youth-bolivia-2006-2009

Schaaf, M., Boydell, V., Van Belle, S., Brinkerhoff, D. W., & George, A. (2020). Accountability for SRHR in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic. *Sexual and Reproductive Health Matters*, *28*(1), 1779634. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/pdf/10.1080/26410397.2020.1779634

Sen, G., Iyer, A., Chattopadhyay, S., & Khosla, R. (2020). When accountability meets power: realizing sexual and reproductive health and rights. *International Journal for Equity in Health*, *19*(1), 1-11. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1186/s12939-020-01221-4

Shanklin, D., & Wilcox, S. (2017) Social Accountability Tools and Resources. Core Group. https://coregroup.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/SocialAccountabilityTools.pdf

Shanklin, D., & Wilcox, S. (2019) Monitoring and Evaluation of Evolving Social Accountability Efforts in Health – A Literature Synthesis. Core Group. https://coregroup.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/SocialAccountabilityTools.pdf

Social Accountability in Health: Perspectives from Institutional Actors | Core Group: Working Together in Health for Mothers, Children and Communities. (2020). Retrieved 16 December 2020, from https://coregroup.org/webinar/social-accountability-in-health-perspectives-from-institutional-actors/

Steyn, P. S., Cordero, J. P., Gichangi, P., et al. (2016). Participatory approaches involving community and healthcare providers in family planning/contraceptive information and service provision: a scoping review. *Reproductive Health*, *13*(1), 1-13. https://reproductive-health-journal.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12978-016-0198-9.

Steyn, P. S., Boydell, V., Cordero, et al. (2020). Rationale and design of a complex intervention measuring the impact and processes of social accountability applied to contraceptive programming: CaPSAI Project. *Gates Open Research*, *4*(26), 26. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7541905/.

TCI University. (No date). AYSRH-Accountability-Advocacy. The Challenge Initiative. https://tciurbanhealth.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/AYSRH-Accountability.pdf

The Packard Foundation. (2019). U-Decide 2.0: Youth-led social accountability for SRHR. https://www.packard.org/awardee/u-decide-2-0-youth-led-social-accountability-to-improve-the-quality-of-sexual-and-reproductive-health-and-rights/

The PACT. (2019). #Uproot Scorecards. https://www.theyouthpact.org/uproot.html.

Unequal Voices: The Politics of Accountability for Equity in Health Systems - Institute of Development Studies. (2016). Retrieved 16 December 2020, from https://www.ids.ac.uk/projects/unequal-voices-the-politics-of-accountability-for-equity-in-health-systems/.

UNFPA & Restless Development. (2019). Youth Leadership, Participation and Accountability 2.0. https://esaro.unfpa.org/en/publications/youth-leadership-participation-and-accountability-20-parts-1-2-and-3.

Van Belle, S., Boydell, V., George, A. S., Brinkerhof, D. W., & Khosla, R. (2018). Broadening understanding of accountability ecosystems in sexual and reproductive health and rights: A systematic review. *PloS One*, *13*(5), e0196788. https://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0196788.